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1900-1909





1900 Griff No. 5 colliery closed (opened after 1851).


(In 1900 three million tons of coal were raised in the Warwickshire coalfield and 8000 people were employed in it.)





Monday, December 17th. 1900 The Prince of Wales Theatre Opened.





1900 Stanley Bros Ltd. Nuneaton New Colliery opened for coal raising, this replaced the Nuneaton Old Colliery sunk about 1730 and closed June 1900 (Nuneaton old colliery was re-opened in 1863 after previous closure in 1855.)


1900 Old town hall in the Market Place realised £13,125 at public auction.





July 5th 1900 Messrs Swinnerton & Sons timber yard in Regent Street, Nuneaton, badly damaged by fire.





8th September 1900 Knowles Flour Mill in Mill Walk badly damaged by fire.





29th November 1900 Opening of the New Victoria Wing, Nuneaton Cottage Hospital (later known as the Manor Hospital) in commemoration of the Diamond Jubilee of Queen Victoria.





30-31st December 1900 a large flood engulfed Nuneaton town centre. Localised flooding was common in Nuneaton but this was unusually large and is remembered as the "Great Flood of 1900".


Both the River Anker and the Coventry Canal flooded.





1901  Arley Colliery sinking started.





1901 Haunchwood Tunnel Colliery Brickworks ceased production. (Originally started to make bricks for the original colliery buildings and sinking works but later common bricks were made for local distribution.)





1901  Whittleford pumping station brought into use to provide tap water for Nuneaton. Previously there had been great reliance on the local wells which served small numbers of houses. The water was often infected through dirt and the ever present cess pit close by.





26th April 1901 Sanction given for the building of a street tramway through Nuneaton in nine separate sections with routes out to Stockingford, Chilvers Coton, Camp Hill and Attleborough Green. Designed to be 3'6" gauge with car sheds and power generation plant in Arthur Street. Share capital £120,000.





Wednesday 15th May 1901. At 5 mins past 5 Nuneaton Market Clock started by Alderman E.F.Melly. The Clock cost £350. Made by Evans of Handsworth, Birmingham.





1902 Nuneaton Urban District became an Education Authority.





1902 Nuneaton electricity generating station opened.





1902 John North Birch commenced the manufacture of the "George Eliot" motorcycle in Nuneaton.





1903 The design for the "George Eliot" motorcycle sold to Bradburys of Oldham who made an exact replica.





1903 Local Earth Tremor





1903 The Co-Op store in Abbey Street extended.





1903 The King William IV pub in Coton Road rebuilt by George Henry and Walter Taylor. (Originally opened in a cottage as a beer house in 1830)





8th May 1903 Stockingford locomotive shed brought into use. It was a sub shed of Wigston shed on the Midland Railway at Leicester (Nr. 11 shed on the MR).





September 1903 Taylor Bros. beer bottlers of Fife Street, founded.





Tuesday, 3rd November 1903.  A court case opened between the Midland Railway and the Haunchwood Colliery Co. The M.R. wanted to buy the mineral rights under Stockingford Tunnel and 30 yards either side as there was severe geological problems due to ground water and mining activity.





1904 John North Birch rode a "George Eliot" motorcycle from Lands End to John O'Groats.





1904  Local Earth Tremor.





February 11th 1904 the ancient "Plough and Ball" public house on Abbey Green collapsed whilst work was being carried out to raise internal ceilings and floors. The ceiling was only 5'10" or 6'0" high in places.





1905 Production of the "George Eliot" motorcycle ceased after John North Birch emigrated to New Zealand where he built that country's first car.





1905 John Warden Clay, draper in the Market Place and founder of Nuneaton Public Library died. He lived at Bridge House, Coventry Street, a property he inherited off his grandfather the Rev. Hugh Hughes. Curate in charge of St. Nicholas Parish Church, Nuneaton.





28th January 1905  to commemorate local people who fought in the Boer War a statue was unveiled in Nuneaton after extensive processions through the town centre.





1905  Storm damage to Tuttle Hill windmill, sail blown off.





April 1905 Stockingford Council School opened.





July 1905 Queens Road School opened.





27th November 1905 Nuneaton Golf Club opened.





1906  Proposals to build an electric tramway around Nuneaton finally dropped.


An extension order to complete the work was refused by the Board of Trade.





1906 Nuneaton Harriers founded.





1906 W.L.Cartwright & Co. (Timber) Ltd. an old established Coventry firm opened a depot at Arbury Wharf, Croft Road on the Coventry Canal.





Jan 1906 William Johnson "the People's Candidate" a Liberal was elected MP for the Nuneaton seat, beating Sir. Francis Newdigate by 1828 votes.





17th February 1906 Mr. William Nowell (1856-1906) whose grandfather owned Haunchwood Nowells Colliery, died. He was General Manager of Haunchwood Colliery.





24th March 1906 New infirmary and laundry opened Nuneaton Workhouse.





June 1906 Abbey Place West  was combined into Botterill Street, and the old name dropped.


Abbey Place East was re-named Abbey Place.





1906  Tuttle Hill windmill rebuilt with five sail mechanism.





16th January 1907 Alderman E.F.Melly gave Riversley Park to the town + £500 to lay out the land. Officially opened 6th July.





5th April 1907 Hartshill North School opened.





August 1907 New model lodging house opened: "Eliot House" on Abbey Green.





28th September 1907 Nuneaton became a Borough. The charter of incorporation was widely celebrated throughout the town.





25th November 1907 Chilvers Coton churchgoers visit Taylor's bell foundry, Loughborough to witness the casting of a new peal of bells for Coton church.





28th November 1907 Renard Road Train was demonstrated in Nuneaton.





5th March 1907 The Nuneaton & District Record - newspaper started.





1908 The Gate Hotel, Abbey Gate sold. Said not to have paid its way as a temperance hotel, in an intemperate Nuneaton.





1908 Tenor bell erected in Chilvers Coton parish church as a memorial to George Eliot.





26th February 1908 Man killed in explosion at Griff Marion Pit, Mr.B.J.Hill of 149 Coton Road.





27th October 1908 The Nuneaton & District Records - newspaper ceased publication.





November 1908 John Bosworth or "Jacko" was appointed town crier.





1908 Park Avenue School, Attleborough, opened.





1909 High Street built.





August 1909 Thousands of people met in the Market Place, Nuneaton to attend a meeting of Suffragettes.





1909  The Empire Cinema was opened.





5th October 1909  The Crystal Palace pub closed in the Market Place, and the new Crystal Palace pub opened in Gadsby Street, Attleborough.





1910-1919





1910 Attleborough windmill ceased production. (demolished in the 1960's)





1910 A new front factory building added to Rufus Jones elastic web works, Attleborough Green. A business originally established in 1873 (Later traded as Lester & Harris Ltd.)





1910 Hart & Levy Ltd., the Leicester merchant tailors, established a branch in Central Avenue, Nuneaton.





April 1910  Fitton Street School opened.





4th May 1910  Nuneaton High School for Girls opened.





August 1910 Palace Cinema, Short Street, Stockingford opened.





1910 The Royal Picture House, Stratford Street opened.





22nd June 1911 Celebrations in Nuneaton for Coronation of King George V and Queen Mary.





22nd March 1911 The Nuneaton Star- newspaper commences publication.


Starts as the Star, then the Nuneaton Star, then the Warwickshire Star.





17th August 1911 Railway strike across the country and troops were stationed at key railway installations in Nuneaton. 80 men stopped work at Stockingford.





1912 The post office which stood fronting the Market Place, originally opened in 1890, was pulled down for road widening and a new post office opened close by.





1912 Stockingford (Bucks Hill) cemetary opened





1912 New water pumping station brought into use at Griff. 220,000 gallons a day was produced. This reached 1,000,000 gallons per day by 1915





8th April 1912 Leon Vint's Empire theatre was re-named the "Picturedrome", for "first class pictures and high class vaudeville" - this is still a place of entertainment in 1999, the Millenium nightclub on Leicester Road.





1913 Work started on building Corporation Street.





1913 Nuneaton Dramatic Company re-formed.








1913  Major reconstruction of Nuneaton (Trent Valley) station commenced.





1913  Nuneaton Mining School opened.





March 1913 Lucy Askham murdered in Hinckley Road





August 1913 First petrol omnibus ordered by the Nuneaton & Stockingford Omnibus Co. Ltd. Bus was a Tilling Stevens which was brought from the manufacturers to Nuneaton by Mr. Fred Scarr who was engaged in Nuneaton to drive the bus. First service started from the Castle Hotel in the Market Place up to Bucks Hill. Prior to this shoppers and travellers were given a ride up Stockingford in horse drawn "tubs" on Fridays and Saturdays for 3d. up and 2d. down. The "tub" driver would shout "Here you are for the common" - meaning Nuneaton Common, as Stockingford was known. The "tubs" would draw up outside the gas works in Queens Road.





The same week in 1913 the North Warwickshire Motor Traction Co. started a service from Two Gates at Tamworth to Nuneaton. (This service was suspended during WW1)





1914 Nuneaton Corporation's 15T Aveling Porter steam roller (purchased in 1883) was replaced by a 12 ton compound roller by Thomas Green & Sons Ltd. Cost £480 and £50 was given in part exchange for old roller. The new roller had a tipping body which held 3 tons of stone.





1914 Griff Pumping Station opened





1914 The old Newdigate Arms hotel demolished and a new one built in its place. Cost of redevelopment £8250.





1st February 1914 The Scala Cinema opened.





18th July 1914 Reginald Stanley, former chairman of Stanley Bros. Ltd brickmakers, died aged 76.





August 1914 A six and a half ton roller supplied to the Corporation by Mann's Patent Steam Cart & Wagon Co. Ltd. Leeds. Cost £517.








December 1914 Mr. George Iliffe died, was well known as one of the partners in Iliffes the Chemists in Nuneaton Market Place.





1915 Aircraft hanger, said to be larger than one at the Hendon aerodrome in London erected at Attleborough next to the Trent Valley main line for use by the brother of Edward F.Melly who was a pioneering aviator.


The hanger was later converted into an oil store after being re-erected next to Riversley Park.





1915  Andrew Ronald Knox, manager of Haunchwood Brick & Tile Co Ltd.  killed in action in France aged 33





1915 Courtaulds purchased ground in Marlborough Road to build a factory, materials were delivered but the work was held up because of World War One.





March 27th/28th 1916 Blizzard causes havoc in Nuneaton, numerous telephone poles felled.





1916 The Nuneaton Chronicle published the first telephone directory in Nuneaton.





May 1916  William Westwood, aged 59, managing director of Stanley Brothers Ltd. died at his house "Briarwood" Princes Street, Nuneaton. He was a batchelor, a native of Buckinghamshire. His brother had been clerk/cashier at Stanleys and William was offered a job with the firm. When his brother died he took over his job and rose from that position.





27th October 1916  Mr. Henry Stubbs of Camp Hill Hall died. He was 62. He was the son of  Mr.H.J.L.Stubbs of Tittersfield, Ashton-on-Mersey. He was educated at Rugby school and bought Camp Hill Hall in 1878. He was a leading local sportsman being an expert horseman, polo player, cricketer, on the board of the Nuneaton Theatre Co. for many years and one of the leading lights in the founding of the Prince of Wales Theatre. He was a director of Yates Brewery of Birkenhead and Liverpool and a director of Stanley Brothers. He helped found the Nuneaton Conservative Club.





1917  The original Co-Op store opened in Queens Road (later demolished when the Co-Op Hall opened in 1938).





1917  The Nuneaton railway control office dealt with 90,000 wagon movements per week with a staff of 17, with 35-40 collieries feeding coal onto the system, handling goods from numerous brickyards and seven stone quarries, not to mention huge quantities of general merchandise. 3000 munition workers travel daily from Nuneaton to Coventry.





1917 The Nuneaton Empire Music Hall operated by Mr. Leon Vint closed. This is now the Millenium nightclub.





1917  Joe Whitehouse started his bus service.





1917 Nuneaton Museum opened.





1917 Mr. Williams started the Trelawny Bus Co. which loaded in Queens Road for the "old lane" up Haunchwood Road to Whittleford.





May 1918. A temporary war memorial was erected.





July 1918 Lieutenant Leonard Cecil Knox VC and Corporal William Beesley VC made honorary freemen of the Borough. Wm. Beesley who later lived in Brooklyn Street, Foleshill was the last freeman of the Borough when he died.





November 1918. At the end of World War 1,  675 Nuneaton men died in war service.





1919  a Mr. Laker, thought to be the father of the airline owner Sir Freddie Laker started an air service from Nuneaton.





1919 Nuneaton Rugby Club leased the field at the back of the New Inn, Attleborough (later known as the Rugger Tavern) and the ground became the Harry Cleaver ground.





1919 Swinnerton & Co, timber merchants in Regent Street became a limited company trading as: The Nuneaton Timber Co. Ltd.





1919 Midland Sheet Metal Works established in the old foundry at Chilvers Coton to make sheet metal car bodies for the motor trade.





1919  Nuneaton Town football ground known later as Manor Park was sold to Nuneaton Town F.C. by Charles Moore who bought 25 acres known as Wash Lane Farm. Cost £230.





1919 Part of the embankment in former Wash Lane (now Queens Road) removed to build Lamb's Billiards Hall.





1920-1929





1920 Nuneaton Operatic & Dramatic Society founded.





12th October 1920 the Lindley Hall estate listed to be sold by auction.





14th November 1920 War memorial unveiled in Riversley Park.





1920  A temporary well for pumping water opened at the Whitestone due to water shortages.


30,000 gallons per day for two years.





1920 Work started on the new Courtaulds factory in Nuneaton.





1921  Midland Red Bus depot opened.





4th August 1921 Hartshill war memorial unveiled.





1922 Mini flu epidemic in Nuneaton killed three people including Peter Platt (1883-1922) from Nuneaton Town player (late licensee of the White Swan public house)





1922 Rugby Autocar started to distribute Ford and Fordson tractor products.





January 8th 1922 Nuneaton Colliery Employees War Memorial unveiled by Brigadier General Sir John Barnsley V.D. D.L. T.D. a director of Stanley Bros. Ltd. who owned the mine.





24th May 1922 Nuneaton New Colliery closed, site turned into Stanley Bros. Ltd. No.7 brickyard.








1922 Weddington Hall was purchased by Percy Howe for conversion into flats.


and to construct houses in the estate grounds.





1922 A stained glass window was installed in St. Pauls Church Stockingford at a cost of £500. It formed a memorial to the 201 people of the area who died in the First World War.





1923 The London Midland & Scottish Railway was formed and two local railways in Nuneaton, the London & North Western Railway and the Midland Railway became constituent parts of the new company.





1924 Weddington Castle converted into flats.





1924 The River Anker flooded.





1924 Joe Lloyd started his bus company (J.Lloyd & Sons) from premises at 17 George Eliot Street. (formed into a limited company in 1941)





1924 A water scheme brought into use from a reservoir on Tuttle Hill at a cost of £83,700. Ultimate daily yield expected to reach 1,250,000 gallons. Up until this time Nuneaton and district had suffered several water shortages.





16th January 1924 the first two telephone kiosks in Nuneaton erected.





3rd March 1924 Alderman Robert W. Swinnerton MBE JP was given freedom of the Borough.





30th April 1924 Harry Leigh Townsend (1842-1924) of Caldecote Hall found drowned in River Anker.



































August 30th.1924  Cock & Bear bridge bus fire, seven burnt to death:


Walter Smith, 46 Haunchwood Road, Nuneaton. (saved his wife and son but lost his own life)


Miss Mary Smith, his 5 year old daughter.


Joseph Rogers, Quarry Yard, Stockingford.


Mrs Winifred Handley, 25 Whitehouse Crescent, Stockingford.


Herbert Rollason, 64 Cross Street, Stockingford gave his life trying to save others.


Miss Louisa Emily Booth,


Miss Marjorie Hammersley of Foleshill.





November 27th. 1924 Caldecote Hall estate auctioned.





February 1925 New unemployment office opened in Nuneaton in Leicester Road.





7th July 1925 Haunchwood (Nowells) colliery closed, (leases went back to 1729 but coal has been worked on this site since the 1350's).


The shafts were retained and fitted with steam powered submersible pumps which kept the nearby Haunchwood Tunnel pit free of water.)





1926 The alter and panelling was altered as part of the restoration scheme of St. Nicholas Parish Church. Nuneaton.





1926 A severe earth tremor effected Nuneaton.





1926 Lindley Hall demolished.





June 1926 The Hon. E.H.Pierrepoint J.P. (1856-1926) who lived for many years at Higham Grange died in fall from a bicycle.





1926 Airship passed over Nuneaton possibly on a photographic mission.





1927  Manor Park School started.





1927 Queen Mary visited Arbury Hall and Astley Castle.





1927 50th anniversary of the Nuneaton Observer.





16th March 1928 Stockingford Colliery (Drybread) closed, (originally opened 1872 but mineral leases are dated back to the 1850s.) Site later taken over by the Premier Stone Company which moved from Morewood, Hartshill.





17th-19th April. Sale of the furniture and effects at Camp Hill Hall.





20th April 1928 The factory of Pool Lorimer & Tabberer, on the corner of Abbey Street and Meadow Street gutted by fire.





10th March 1928 Aldermans, J.Bates OBE; J.Randle JP, and W.T.Smith JP CA were made freemen of the Borough.





22nd May 1928 Haunchwood Brick & Tile works locomotive shed badly damaged by fire. Locomotives stored inside were damaged.





10th December 1928 The New Palace Cinema opened. Mr. Pitcher of Bradford was the architect.





July - October 1928 Weddington Castle demolished.





1928 Manor Park School opened. Built by G.E.& W.Wincott Ltd.





1929  The R101 airship seen over Nuneaton.





1929 The Grand Cinema Chapel End opened.





1929 Ranby's the Chemist opened on the corner of Abbey Street/High Street.





8th March 1929 The new Nags Head pub opened in Queens Road, the previous one had been in Coventry Street. An Elizabethan style building built by Geo. Hodges, Builders of Burton on Trent. The previous Nags Head pub in Coventry Street was built in 1895 on the site of the more ancient public house by that name. The site was given free of charge to the town by Salt & Co. for road widening.

















1930-39





29th April 1930 Alderman E.F.Melly JP was given freedom


of the Borough.





1930 One in ten houses in Nuneaton classified as unfit to live in.





1930 The George Eliot Fellowship founded.





1930 The last meeting was held of the old Nuneaton Poor Law Guardians.





21st June 1930 The first county cricket match played at the Griff & Coton cricket ground.





1930 Work started on houses on the new Weddington estate in the grounds of the old castle.





October 1930 Nuneaton's first carnival held. This has become a firm part of the Nuneaton calendar and is now held in June.


Nuneaton's first carnival queen was Ann Seale.





12th April 1931 the LMSR passenger train service between Nuneaton - Ashby & Loughborough discontinued.





1931 Swinnerton School started to be built.





1931 The old Palace Cinema (next door to the new one) converted into a roller skating rink.





1931 Weddington was incorporated into the Borough of Nuneaton.





23rd July 1931 Mr. James Knox of Haunchwood Brick & Tile fame who lived at the Chase, Higham Lane died aged 82.





December 1931 Work started on New Council House.





1932 Swinnerton School opened.





21st March 1932 The Kosy Kinema opened in Lister Street, Attleborough.





22nd May 1932 The familiar and well known "Great Flood of Nuneaton" occurred, lifting wooden block paving in the Market Place and causing much damage to the centre of town. Floods took only an hour to rise and reached a depth of four to five feet in the Market Place.





June 1932 Civic Mace presented to the Borough Council by Henry Lester, the chemist.





5th November 1932 Stockingford loco shed closed. All locomotives were transferred to the main Nuneaton shed on the Trent Valley line. Locomotive crews continued to sign on at the Stockingford station.





1932 Stockingford station signal box closed.





1932 Nowells siding signal box closed. Both the above were replaced by ground frames.





29th January 1932 Attleborough Hall demolition started.





December 1933 Council House completed.





1934 Herbert Charles Jones OBE JP of Caldwell Hall (1868-1934) deceased.


Heir: Phillip Rufus Jones (1910-?)





January 1934 The library in Coton Road was transferred to the old fire station and municipal offices in Queens Road. Demolition of the former library commenced 12th January 1934.


The librarian was Mr. B. Moreton.





26th April 1934 The new Council House (now the Town Hall) in Nuneaton opened by Sir Francis Newdigate-Newdegate GCMG.





1934 Education office, formerly at the Elms, Vicarage Street transferred to the new Council House.





10th July 1934 Prince Edward, the Prince of Wales (later King Edward VII) landed by aeroplane in Nuneaton to visit Hall & Phillips factory in Meadow Street.








6th September 1934 The Pheasant Inn in Abbey Street closed. Its licence was transferred to the Grove at Weddington.





July 1935 Under new slum clearance proposals demolition started on a court of four court cottages in Abbey Street.


Between 1935 and 1956 1051 houses were demolished.





4th July 1935 The Chase, home of the Knox family of Haunchwood Brick & & Tile fame sold by auction.





28th November 1935 The headmaster of Hartshill Schools. Mr. George P. Bowerman was tragically killed when he fell off a chair whilst setting the school hall curtain for the school concert.





1936 There started an influx of Welsh and Durham miners into the area.





1936 Chilvers Coton (Shepperton) old vicarage demolished.





9th January 1936 A severe storm blew one of the five sails of the windmill on Tuttle Hill, it was never replaced. Grinding of corn went over to electricity. It was the last working windmill in the Borough and one of the last in Warwickshire.(There had been a flour mill on this site since the 1720's.)





7th March 1936 Thomas Wright the miller at Tuttle Hill died.





1936 New Catholic Church built in Coton Road.





1936 Work started on the new Camp Hill housing estate for miners and other local families displaced by the slums gradually being torn down in the town centre. 1400 houses would eventually be built. By 1939 536 old properties had been demolished in the town.





8th June 1936 New electric motor fitted to Tuttle Hill windmill to grind corn.





21st June 1936  Lightning struck and partially destroyed the spire on Attleborough church.








25th September 1936 Men digging a trench in Queens Road for a new sewer overcome by fumes. One man, Charles Smith, aged 60, of 18 Harold Street, Nuneaton died.





January and March 1937  The great English comedian, Mr. George Formby, appeared at the New Palace Theatre. He sang some of his best loved comedy songs.





1937 Nuneaton Town Football Club folded and the Manor Park ground was sold to the Nuneaton Corporation for £3500.





1937 Nuneaton Borough Football Club founded to take over the old club and ground.





7th May 1937 Celebrations in Nuneaton for coronation of King George VI and Queen Elizabeth.





23rd July 1937 The Ritz Cinema opened in Abbey Street.





August 1937 Alderman E.F.Melly retired from his post as Managing Director of Griff Collieries Ltd. He was succeeded by Mr. Povey-Harper, a director of Measham Collieries Ltd. and Nuneaton Timber Co. Ltd.





1937 Work started on Arbury Secondary School, Greenmoor Road.





1937 Using the licence transferred from the old Pheasant inn in Abbey Street the Grove House in Weddington was converted into a public house.





1938 A small orchestra started playing in the restaurant of J.C.Smith's departmental store on Bridge Street.





1938 The original co-op store in Queens Road demolished - built in 1917.





1938 A special train took the staff of Haunchwood Brick & Tile to Bellahouston Park, Glasgow for the Empire Exhibition.





1938 Higham Lane School started to be built.








6th October 1938  No.2  Reservoir  and water tower, Tuttle Hill opened by Lt. Commander R.T.H. Fletcher R.N.M.P.





1939 Camp Hill Hall demolished.





1939 A new primary school opened at Victoria Road, Hartshill.





1939 The Co-Op Hall opened for dances and band entertainments.





1939 Sterling Metals aluminium foundry was begun in Marston Lane. This was re-located from Coventry.





18th February 1939 Rev. William Herbert Fifield took up his duties at Attleborough church. He was to stay for 39 years until 30th November 1978.





2nd September 1939 The day before the outbreak of World War II. armed troops took up station in the recreation ground in Pool Bank Street.  Four guards were put on each entrance.





1940-49





1940  Mr. Charles Phillimore, rope maker, of Queens Road Rope Walk died. The name Rope Walk is to be celebrated in a new shopping mall to be opened in Nuneaton in the year 2001.





1940 The water fountain in the Market Place was taken down and the water supply used for a static water tank in connection with air raid precautions. The old stone water fountain was stored for many years in the council yard in Queens Road at the back of the library.





10th January 1940 Nuneaton Citizens Advice Bureau opened.





4th June 1940 RAF Bramcote commissioned.





July 1940 The 1st Polish Squadron came to be stationed at RAF Bramcote. No.300 Masovian, followed by Nos. 301,304,305.





20th August 1940 King George VI and Queen Elizabeth paid a secret visit to RAF Bramcote to inspect a squadron of Polish aviators.








28th August 1940 First air raid on Nuneaton. The Luftwaffe bombed Weddington  - 1 dead.





14th November 1940  The great blitz on Coventry, a few bombs were dropped around the Nuneaton area.





1941 The Elizabethan poet, contemporary of William Shakespeare, Michael Drayton's cottage demolished on Hartshill Green.





1941 The 1st Battalion Cambridge Regiment was stationed at Arbury Hall. 343 of these men lost their lives between 1942 and 1945 serving in the Far East.





16th/17th May 1941 the great blitz on Nuneaton. Extensive damage was done in the town centre. St. Nicholas Parish Church badly damaged and gravestones flattened, All Saints Parish Church, Chilvers Coton, burnt out by incendiary bombs, Church Street, Attleborough Road, Glebe Road, Vicarage Street, Queens Road, were badly damaged by both incendiaries and blast bombs, as well as extensive damage to historic buildings such as the old Grammar School, George Eliot's school, the Elms, Vicarage Street school virtually destroyed, Midland Counties Printing Works destroyed, houses in Church Street including "Lawyer Dempster's House" badly damaged although they should have been repaired instead of being knocked down after the war.  110 people were killed, including Alderman Edward Melly of the Close, Church Street. Attleborough church and vicarage were also damaged.  170 people were injured. There are many stories of lucky escapes, great bravery and heartbreak that fateful night, the most traumatic in Nuneaton this century.





1942 Frank Bowles elected as Labour MP for Nuneaton. He continued as MP for 24 years until 1964 when he became Lord Bowles.





























25th February 1942 King George VI and Queen Elizabeth visited Nuneaton.


Conferred the following medals on local heroes: for bravery during the blitz May 1941.


Dr. Percy George Horsburgh (First Aid Commandant-ARP) - George Medal


Mrs. Mary Lily Maybury - MBE


James Shannon - BEM





24th/25th June 1942 An air raid on Nuneaton lasted 1 hour. 18 people were killed mostly in Manor Court Road area..





28th July 1942 Last recorded bomb fell on Nuneaton, on the Pingle Fields.





1943 Lieut. Leonard Cecil Knox VC tragically killed when he lost control of his motorcycle on ice on Tuttle Hill. Buried in Witherley churchyard.





1943 Coal gas tar leaked from the Gas Works via the Wash Brook into the River Anker causing considerable pollution.





1944 There was an enormous accidental explosion at an RAF bomb store at RAF Fauld near Burton on Trent said to be a blast bigger than the atomic bombs which fell on Hiroshima and Nagasaki in Japan. The blast and flash were felt in Nuneaton.





1944 Preliminary work started on clearing the rubble of Chilvers Coton church.





1945  The AB Taxi firm started by Albert Ball from premises in Bond Street.





January 1945 The generation of electricity ceased at the electric works in Coton Road. All supplies were then taken from bulk supplies from the power company.





7th May 1945 VE day. Great celebrations and street parties in Nuneaton.








By 1945 of the 13,644 houses in the Borough of which 10,485 were damaged, 380 were totally destroyed  over 10,000 received emergency repairs.


131 people had been killed 229 were injured. 291 high explosive bombs dropped on the town.





1946 Tubby's taxis started.





1946 The Intalok Co. Ltd. started operations from premises in Leicester Road, Nuneaton. They made springs for beds.





1946 Haunchwood Brick & Tile No. 2 yard closed in Heath End Road.





1946 Caldwell Hall, Chilvers Coton demolished. (Built in the 18th century by the Harpur family)





3rd December 1946 The Royal Navy took over RAF Bramcote. It became HMS Gamecock. Its task was to train naval air mechanics.





1947 George Helps, manager of Nuneaton Gas Co. Ltd. retired.





1947 Nuneaton twinned with Roanne.





June 1947 Mrs. L.C.S.Fitzroy Newdigate awarded the O.B.E.





25th September 1947 There was a talk broadcast on BBC World Service between 6.10pm - 6.20pm. by R.G.Lloyd Thomas on the restoration of Chilvers Coton Church.





27th September 1947 The rebuilt Chilvers Coton church re-dedicated by Dr. Neville Gorton, Bishop of Coventry. Architect H.N.Jepson.ARIBA. .





4th June 1948 Field Marshall Montgomery unveiled the war memorial to fallen Nuneaton men in Riversley Park.





28th March 1949 Attleborough Grange old people’s home opened by Ald. W.T.Smith.





5th June 1949 25 yards of the Arley railway tunnel collapsed during reconstruction work.








24th October 1949 the Arley tunnel re-opened to rail traffic occupying one line. A temporary signal cabin was erected to protect the single line.





1949 The Royal Cinema, Stratford Street, closed.





1950-1959





1950  The electric pump installed to replace an old steam submersible pump at the closed Haunchwood [Nowells] Colliery caused the closure of a short branch railway from the Nuneaton-Whitacre branch line near Stockingford station.





1951 George Helps died.





1951 Construction started on Nuneaton Technical College. The overall cost was to be £1,000,000.





1951 The obelisk which had stood as a memorial to George Eliot and erected by Sir Francis Newdigate-Newdegate G.C.M.G. a former governor of Tasmania and Western Australia was removed from Arbury park to the new George Eliot memorial gardens.





1952 The Intalok Co. Ltd. moved to a new factory in Caldwell Road, Chilvers Coton.





1952 Middlemarch County Junior School opened.





1952 Nuneaton Congregational Churches in Bond Gate and Coton Road amalgamated. The old Church in Bond Gate became a printing works. Was reputed to be haunted.





1st May 1952 The George Eliot Memorial Garden opened by then mayor of Nuneaton, Ald.W.S.Johnson. Three almond trees from Jerusalem had been planted, given by the Government of Israel as well as 200 shrubs and trees.





1953 Montague Moreton sen. founder of Monty's Bus Co. of Attleborough, died.





1953 Caldecote Hall turned into Boys School.








1953 Timber framed cottages in Abbey Street demolished.





1953 The Arley tunnel fully re-opened to rail traffic but still needed constant attention due to mining subsidence.





3rd March 1953 Nuneaton Technical School completed.





16th May 1953 Garden Of Memory opened in Riversley Park.





July 1953 Work started in converting Reginald Stanley's, later George Help's elegant house, the Manor Court in Manor Court Road into an old peoples home.





1954 Caldwell County Junior School opened.





1954 St. Josephs Roman Catholic Secondary School opened.





April 1954 Mr. Samuel Fennell founder of the well known drapery business in Queens Road died aged 87. Born at Galley Common in 1866 he opened his first shop in 1897.





October 1954 Stockingford parish hall opened after twenty years of fund raising.





November 1954 The first residents of the Manor Court old people’s home took up residence.





1955 Caldecote Hall badly damaged by fire.





27th May 1955 Griff Clara Colliery closed. (opened Summer 1891) Was the first pit in Warwickshire to raise 1000 tons of coal in a shift.





16th July 1955 Sam Robbins showroom on the corner of Bond Gate and Leicester Road extended.





1955 Friary County Secondary School opened.





1956 Red Deeps Special School opened.





1956 Manor Park Secondary School became a Secondary Technical School.





1956 Alderman Smith Secondary School opened.





3pm. 3rd May 1956 New central bus station opened in Harefield Road by W.J.James O.B.E. Chairman of the P.S.V. Licensing Authority of West Midlands Area.





June 1956 The Rev. Ivo Carr Gregg, vicar of Astley died, aged 79 he had been Vicar of Astley since 1917.





29th June 1956 The Nuneaton Chronicle-newspaper ceased publication. (started 6th June 1868)





14th November 1956 The 3000th post war council house was completed in the area.





22nd December 1956 The Hippodrome Theatre (formerly the Prince of Wales) closed.





1st January 1957 Ald. William F.Harris of 136 Manor Court Road, died, former managing director of Lester & Harris, elastic web manufacturers, Attleborough Green.





11th February 1957 Local earth tremor caused structural damage.





22nd July 1957 Alderman W.R.Chamberlain MBE JP and Thomas Oldroyd OBE MM made freemen of the Borough.





October 1957 The BBC Tonight programme visited Nuneaton and upset the town. Slim Hewitt the reporter was very sarcastic about Nuneaton and referred to George Eliot as a man.





28th October 1957 Herbert C.Jones  only son of Rufus Jones, of Rufus Jones elastic web works, later Lester & Harris; died  Rufus Jones owned both Caldwell and Attleborough Halls. His son lived at Crick.





December 1957 Mr. Montague Charles Brand Slingsby died aged 77. He owned the last silk weaving firm in Nuneaton. The family could trace their ancestry back to John de Selingesbey, Lord of Stelingsby 1100 ad.





1958  Hartshill Senior School opened.





2nd July 1958 The River Anker flooded badly. Two inches of rain fell in 12 hours. Flood waters covered the depth marker in the River Anker. Flooding reached two feet in Whittleford Road, Stockingford.





1958 The Hippodrome cinema, formerly the Prince of Wales Theatre closed.





1958 The Princes (Tatler) cinema closed and building turned into a supermarket and also the Palace Cinema, Stockingford was closed.





1959 Old weights and measures office on corner of Mill Walk demolished.





1959 Council yard in Queens Road converted into a car park.





1959 Garrett Street railway bridge raised in preparation for electrification.





1959 Boer War Memorial moved from Bond Gate to Riversley Park.





1959 Ansley Hall Colliery closed.(opened 1874)





1959 Vicarage Street widened.





1959 Bridge Street widened.





1959 The Nuneaton Flour Mill finished grinding corn for human consumption, became solely a provender mill for animal feed stuffs.





1959 The Coventry diocese sold Stockingford vicarage fields for house building.





17th March 1959 Ben Mayo died at Fawley in Hampshire, a well known character around Nuneaton. formerly kept the Royal Oak, Attleborough.





April 1959 The Junior Leaders Regt. took over HMS Gamecock at Bramcote.





30th April 1959 Phillimores shop at 28 Queens Road closed, Phillimores were rope makers, string and twine dealers. The shop and the George & Dragon pub next door were demolished for a new shopping development. The rope by business had been started in 1815 by Joseph Scrivener (1793-1859).





June 1959 A start was made to demolish the Black Horse Public House, Wheat Street.





June 1959 Staff Sergeant W.W. "Jock" Davies, a former Nuneaton policeman, of 101 Castle Road, Weddington was awarded the British Empire Medal.





September 1959 Rev. William J. May, Superintendant of the Nuneaton and Atherstone Methodist circuit died aged 76. He was an author of two books which were translated into Japanese.





September 1959 Ald. George Comley died aged 71 of 18 Broad Street, Nuneaton. Mayor of Nuneaton 1946-49.





30th October 1959 Ansley Hall Colliery closed.





1960-1969





1960  The Elms in Vicarage Street, and the school which George Eliot had attended between 1828-1832 and arguably one of Nuneaton's most historic buildings was demolished for road widening.





1960 The coach house and stables at the Manor Court, former residence of Reginald Stanley and George Helps, converted into flats.





1960 Kings Head pub, a beer house dating back to the 16th. century in Church Street demolished to make way for new shops and post office.





March 16th 1960  North East Warwickshire Water Board formed.





22nd July 1960 Griff No.4 Colliery closed. (opened 1851) This brought to an end coal mining at Chilvers Coton which had gone on since the 16th. century.





23rd June 1960 Heavy flooding in town centre.





1961 The Grand Cinema closed in Chapel End.





31st May 1961 The Griff Branch closed serving Stanley Bros brickyards in the Stockingford areas, except for a short section used for storing electrification equipment being used on the main line at that time. At the same time the Griff canal arm was taken out of use. It was only used latterly to take coal to the Barbara and Caroline pumping shafts. These had been used in the 19th century for coal raising but steam submersible pumps were later employed to keep the water out of surrounding mine workings.





1962 Electrification starts on the Trent Valley main railway line through Nuneaton. This involved raising bridges erecting thousands of yards of cable, steel gantries and took two years to complete.





5th October 1962 The Beatles appeared at the Co-Operative Dance Hall in Queens Road. Tickets 5 shillings. They were second on the bill to Buddy Brittain.





15th November 1962. A new library opened in Church Street, Nuneaton as part of the town centre reconstruction work. This was designed by Sir Frederick Gibberd architect of Liverpool Roman Catholic Cathedral, who was grandson of John Warden Clay founder of Nuneaton Institute and later the Library in Coton Road.





30th December 1962 The White Swan public house sold for demolition. Last landlord was George & Winnie Handley.





1963 Lifting of the Ansley Hall Colliery branch railway (officially known as the Stockingford Branch -opened 1876)





January 1963 Daytime temperature in Nuneaton dropped to -28 deg. F





September 1963 Taylor Bros. beer bottlers of Fife Street, Nuneaton closed. At one time they employed 40 people. The beer was brought in barrels from Burton on Trent and other brewery suppliers and bottled locally for distribution. Modern distribution methods using lorries killed off Taylor Bros. trade.





September 1963.  Lester’s the Chemists shop closed in the Market Place. The business was sold to Boots the Chemists.





1963 The "Dugdale Arms" demolished in Dugdale Street, replaced by a new pub called the "Merevale".





1963 The Wesleyan Methodist Church in Abbey Street demolished.





1963 The old "Graziers Arms" pub demolished on the corner of Weddington Terrace and Hinckley Road(built in the 1850's). Replaced by a modern building.





1963 Woolworths moved from the corner of the Market Place and Coventry Street into a new store in Queens Road built at a cost of £190,000.





1963 Track lifting commenced on the Griff branch railway starting at Stanley Bros. sidings.





July/August 1963 The Wheatsheaf Inn demolished in Abbey Street, replaced by a new building.


.


1964 New electric trains started running beyond Nuneaton as part of the West Coast main line electrification from Glasgow to London Euston.





December 1963 The last "Fat Stock" market held by Hackney & Sons at the Cattle Market opposite to where Nuneaton bus market now stands.





1965 The Pingles swimming baths were opened in Avenue Road, and the old swimming baths which utilised one of the cleared out settling ponds of the old municipal sewage works was closed.





16th January 1965 The Coventry to Nuneaton passenger rail service discontinued. Chilvers Coton station closed.





1965 Weddington Road railway bridge entirely rebuilt.








August 1965 The George & Dragon pub in Queens Road demolished. A remnant of its original thatched roof was found below the tiles.





11.30pm. 31st December 1965 Four young people died in a New years Eve dance tragedy at the Co-operative dance Hall, Nuneaton. They were:


Pauline Swingler, aged 16 of 34 Fife Street, Nuneaton.


Joseph Brian Peare, aged 22 of Constance Close, Bedworth.


Keith Harding, aged 15 of Barton Road, Nuneaton.


David Greenway, aged 19 of Eastfield Road, Nuneaton.


6 were injured including one Colin Graham, aged 18 who had 64 stitches in his arm.


900 were at the dance and the tragedy happened when weight of numbers descending the stairs from the bar to the dance floor caused some revellers to fall. They were immediately crushed by people falling on top of them.





6th June 1966 Nuneaton railway loco depot closed for the last time. A single steam engine no. 78059 was retained for removing loco stores until 4th July but miraculously this old steamer which languished in Woodhams scrap yard for several years has been rescued and will be rebuilt on the Bluebell Railway in Sussex.





June 1966 St. Johns Methodist church opened in Abbey Street.





July 1966 Weddington Road straightened closer to the bank of the River Anker removing notorious accident black spot.





1967 The Nuneaton Tribune moved to Whitacre Road.





1967 Nuneaton Borough Football Club reached the third round of the FA Cup after beating Swansea they went to Rotherham where they were watched by a gate of 40,000 fans.





1967 Leslie Huckfield elected MP for Nuneaton.





25th March 1967 Haunchwood Tunnel Colliery closed. (opened 20.7.1891)





1967 A fire destroyed the Awson Carriage Works in Meadow Street, formerly Hall & Phillips hat factory. This produced wooden dash boards for motor car production.





June 1967 Rail traffic ceased at Haunchwood Brick & Tile Co. Ltd. at the time of closure of Stockingford marshalling sidings and goods yard.





24th July 1967 Work started on the new post office in Church Street.





September 1967 Albert E. Jebbett died aged 58. He was the Editor of the Evening Tribune and wrote many articles on "Old Nuneaton".





September 1967 Jack Whetstone died aged 74. Secretary of Nuneaton Amateur League he was Nuneaton's "Mr. Amateur Football".





September and October 1967  Stockingford loco shed demolished after standing derelict for 35 years. The shed water tank had been kept in constant use to service locos in Stockingford marshalling sidings until June 1967.





1968 Work started on the Bedworth by-pass road.





2nd February 1968 Princess Alexandra opened Sunnyside Court housing development, Croft Road, Stockingford.





26th March 1968 The railway sidings at Haunchwood tunnel pit taken out of use.





29th March 1968 Arley Colliery closed.





April 1968 Jack Lenton, the fruiterer died. He took part in many town activities being a magistrate and a director of Nuneaton Borough Football Club. He was a leading churchman in the Roman Catholic church and was awarded the Knighthood of St. Gregory by the Pope.





May 1968 The upper silk weaving floor taken off the Albion buildings in Attleborough Road.





22nd June 1968 The empty shell of the Hippodrome cinema and theatre destroyed by fire.








July 1968 Haunchwood (Nowells) Colliery pumping shaft headgear demolished and shaft capped.





29th August 1968 Thomas Kenneth Knox, director of Haunchwood Brick & Tile died aged 84.





10.25pm. 4th March 1968 Last passenger train stopped at Stockingford railway station on the Birmingham to Leicester service.





10.29pm. 4th March 1968 Last passenger train stopped at Nuneaton Abbey Street railway station on the Birmingham to Leicester service.





18th November 1968 Train crash at Abbey Street Station.





1969 Track lifted from Haunchwood sidings, Stockingford.





1969 Haunchwood Brick & Tile No. 3 works closed in Bermuda Road.





January 1969 The old former ribbon factory on corner of Oaston Road and Trent Road demolished. It had been sold by British Railways in June 1967 as a redundant asset and used as a furniture store but had been badly damaged by arsonists.





April 1969 Bedworth by-pass came into use.





April 1969 Harry Cleaver died aged 86. First played Rugby for Nuneaton in 1900. He was a director of the Warwickshire Canal Carrying Co., Nuneaton Timber Co., Griff Collieries Ltd., A.W.Phillips, tennis ball manufacturers, Yoxalls Ltd.





June 1959 Leslie George Halstead, Manager of the Nuneaton Employment Exchange was given the M.B.E. to commemorate 41 years in the Civil Service.





July 1969 Alderman Ted Daffern died aged 64. He was Chairman of Nuneaton Amateur Football League.





17th August 1969 the Nuneaton-Ashby railway line closed to goods traffic.





2nd October 1969 The derelict Chilvers Coton station destroyed by fire.





November 1969 The new post office was opened in Church Street.





November 1969 Frederick Harvey Pallett, founder of Fred Pallett Ltd, the well known local builders, died aged 63.





1970-1979





1st January 1970 Cecil Ernest Marston, Chairman and Managing Director of Stanley Bros. was awarded the M.B.E.





7th January 1970 The Palace Ice Rink in Victoria Street badly damaged by fire and subsequently it had to be demolished.





1970 Nuneaton Sea  Cadets disbanded. Their headquarters H.M.S. Vanquisher next to the canal near the Wharf Bridge at Chilvers Coton was demolished.





1970 The Arts Centre in  Pool Bank Street started showing films.





16th April 1970 Alderman Reg. Haddon was given freedom of the Borough.





October 1970 Haunchwood No. 1 brickyard closed, due to falling off of production of good clay and a running battle with local people over the smoke nuisance it generated..





October 1970 Nuneaton Flour and Provender mill ceased production. (latterly only produced animal food stuffs).





1971 Properties in Coton Road, near Coton Arches demolished.





1971 Haunchwood Brick & Tile works demolished.





November 1971 Charles Betts died he was born in 1883. He was the first head of Manor Park School.





3rd February 1972 Miss Amy Moreton died aged 78. She was awarded the O.B.E. and was the second longest serving member of the County Council to which she gave 33 years service.








13th February 1972 Alderman Bob Chamberlain died aged 70. (he was on the council for 44 years).





January-March 1972 Track was lifted from the Nuneaton-Ashby railway line.





21st May 1972 The Nuneaton Junior Leaders Regiment based at Bramcote were given the freedom of the Borough.





June 1972 Thomas Mather a Nuneaton Probation Service official was given  the M.B.E.





21st July 1972 Weddington Road railway bridge blown up by a controlled detonation.





1972 New public library in Church Street opened.





1972 J.C.Smiths departmental store on Bridge Street renamed Debenhams.





1973 An extension to the sewage works at Hartshill was opened by the Duke of Edinburgh.





1974 De-Mulders animal by-product processing plant opened at Hartshill.





1974 Home Farm of the Jees Hartshill estate was demolished.





1974 Local Government re-organisation brought about Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council.





1974 Coton House (HMS VANQUISHER) demolished after it was gutted by fire.





May 1974 The final internment in Stockingford churchyard took place. Mrs. Emma Olner was buried (aged 103)





20th September 1974 Sir John Betjeman, the poet laureate, unveiled the memorial to Michael Drayton on Hartshill Green on the site of his cottage demolished in 1941.








1974 Work started on demolishing buildings in Coton Road to convert it into a duel carriageway as an extension of the Bedworth by-pass.








1975 The galleries removed and doors taken off the pews in St. Nicholas Parish Church.





6th June 1975 (1.55am) Serious rail crash in Nuneaton. The night Scottish express travelling north from London to Glasgow through Nuneaton towards Crewe came off the rails 100 yards south of the Leicester Road bridge, travelled 200 yards ripping up track, damaging the bridge supports before the locomotive tore down part of the station roof and ended up on the platform. Only one carriage was undamaged. This tremendous crash killed six people and injuring 36. There were approx. 100 people on the train.





1976 The River Anker flood relief scheme brought into use.  This allowed flood waters to by-pass the town centre and has virtually eliminated the risk of flooding to which the town had previously been so prevalent.





February 1976 Tuttle Hill windmill ceased grinding corn.





1977 The Grand and Scala cinemas closed.





14th July 1977 Edwin Charles Knox who was managing director of Arley Colliery and the instigator of the construction of Arley Pit Village died aged 98.





1978 Work starts on the new flood relief scheme designed to take flood waters past the town centre by diverting the main flow of the River Anker to the east of the town. This effectively stops the town from flooding at regular intervals.





April 1978 Astley Castle was gutted by fire and became a ruin. Thought to have been started deliberately. The Castle had been in continuous use since the 12th century. It was a fine example of a medieval moated castle.





November 1978 Mrs Mabel Bratton murdered in Nuneaton.





15th September 1979 The New Palace Cinema in Queens Road closed.





1979 Listers factory and Fielding & Johnson's mills in Attleborough demolished.





1980-1989





1980 A.J.Connors cardboard box factory closed (Queens Road/Fife Street). At one time it employed 845 people.





1980 Nuneaton Rugby Club celebrated its centenary.





1980 Nuneaton Market Place was block paved.





December 1981 John Haddon found murdered on Bedworth By Pass





1982 Nuneaton twinned with Guadalajara in Spain.





1983 Lew Stevens was elected as Conservative M.P. for Nuneaton.





January 15th 1983 Temperature dropped in Nuneaton to -


22 deg. C





1984 A new mosque erected in Frank Street, Nuneaton.





June 18th 1984 Ritz Cinema closed as a cinema, converted into a Bingo Hall. The last film shown there was "Blood Bath At The House of Death" starring Kenny Everett, Pamela Stephenson and Vincent Price.





1985 Work started on Nuneaton's first multi-storey car park.





20th March 1985 Princess Ann visited Abbey Hosiery Mills and the Intec YTC centre.





March 1986 Statue of George Eliot by the Astley sculptor John Letts erected in the Market Place





November 1986. First Victorian late night shopping night. 30,000 people packed the town and the roads were grid-locked.





26th September1987 Murder of Nuneaton toddler Dale Kowalczek.





September 1988 The old Nuneaton bus station concrete shelters were demolished and new polycarbonate and steel ones erected.





3rd March 1989 Attleborough by pass opened.








1990-1999





April 1990 Strong earth tremor felt in Nuneaton reached 5 on the Richter scale.





August 6th 1990 Local temperature reached 38 deg.C. (99 deg. F)





January 14th 1991 The Princess Royal opened the Mary Ann Evans Hospice, Nuneaton. The finances were raised by public subscription.





1992  Bill Olner became Labour M.P. for Nuneaton.





9th May 1992 Abbey Street railway signal box burnt down after closure, by vandals.





1993 Track taken up on the Abbey Junction to Midland Junction branch of the former Midland Railway.





1993 Nuneaton Hospital League of Friends launched a scanner appeal and within 14 months raised £365,000.





1993 Mrs. Daisy Haynes (formerly McBean) a well known local character and charity worker who was born in Jamaica. She raised tens of thousands of pounds for charity and was awarded with the C.B.E.





1993 Demolition started of the Sterling Metals factory.





1993 Traffic calming measures (road humps) brought into use throughout the Borough.








1993 Nuneaton Borough beat Swansea to reach the second round of the FA Cup. They lost 1-0 at home to Bournemouth. The match drew an attendance of 4000, and was screened live on Sky TV.





1993 Nuneaton Sea-Cadets re-formed.





20th July 1993 Manor Hospital closed. Accident and Emergency operations transferred to the new wing of the George Eliot Hospital at Chilvers Coton.








1994 The Queen & Prince Phillip visited Higham Lane School and George Eliot Hospital.





1994 Work started on a facelift for Attleborough Green which was made a conservation area. It was completed in July 1994.





1994 Nuneaton Rugby Club's "Harry Cleaver Ground" in Attleborough Road sold for housing development. They moved to a new ground in Eastboro Way





26th January 1994, Mr. Terry Maidens of Whitestone was murdered at home by a shotgun blast in front of his wife and children.





March 1994 the large Sterling Metals site cleared.





July 1994 The bus operator, J.Lloyd & Sons ceased trading from their premises in Avenue Road.





1995 Daisy Haynes C.B.E. died.








7th January 1995  Larry Grayson, the Nuneaton comedian died aged 71. Born in 1923 as William Sully White, son of William Sully, a labourer, and Ethel White. He never met his father. From the age of 14 onwards he seemed to have acquired the ability to entertain, mimic and make people laugh and originally trod the boards as Billy Breen. In 1968 he was spotted by Paul Raymond in the Gaiety Box Revue and his TV career took off. In 1972 he started his own ITV show: "Shut that Door" and in that year was voted "Show Business Personality of the Year." He took over the BBC's "Generation Game" which he hosted from 1978-82. In 1994 he made a guest appearance at the Royal Variety Performance. His style of comedy was that uniquely English genre, the bumbling fool, perhaps more perfectly presented by that great comedian Tommy Cooper. Larry's was a camp style of his own. He  walked with a mincing gate and flapped his wrists limply, adjusting his hair regularly, and mesmerised his audience with innuendo and gossip about such characters which he brought to life in your imagination: "Slack Alice", "Everard", and "Pop it in Pete" the postman. Seeing him perform you could certainly see the "Nuneaton" in him. He always looked a bit uneasy in front of an audience as much as to say "what am I doing here?" and "why are you daft lot paying to see me?"  His gossip always reminded me of the prattle I imagine he would have heard amongst the hard bitten housewives in the little court tenements of his youth in Abbey Street. Such comments as "Look at the muck in 'ere!"  "'e's a nice boy!" and alluding to those draughty houses, with their doors opening direct onto a cold dank yard "Shut that door!"  All set off with such catch phrases as "Oh what a gay day!" He once said "If I drop dead and get to the gates of St.Peters, you can't stop me saying Shut that Door!".


It is surprising that in two centuries there have been two famous Nuneaton personalities who have risen to main stream national fame: one was a woman pretending to be a man - George Eliot (1819-1880) the other was Larry Grayson who sat on the fence of his sexuality, but despite that never offended anyone.





January 1995 Stockingford church centre opened.





March 1995 A TV programme "Local Heroes" dealt with John Barber, patenter of the Gas Turbine in 1779 who lived in Attleborough.








May/Jun 1995 A BBC TV crew came to Nuneaton to make a documentary about Courtaulds Mill, and the campaign to save it from demolition. It was shown in the series "One foot in the Past". Broadcast August 1995.





July 1995 Demolition commenced Courtaulds Mill.





15th September 1995 Naomi Smith murdered at Ansley Common.





4th February 1996 Roman pottery remains found in Weddington Road.





February 1996 Harold Lapworth, one of Nuneaton's great characters and custodian of Courtaulds Mill Clock passed away. He regularly wound and looked after the clock so that Nuneaton people had a regular time check throughout the day.





1996 Commenced re-building Newtown Road Bridge.





1997 Mr. Arthur Eales of Marlborough Road murdered by burglars.





1998





May 28th 1999 New ABC multiplex cinema opened on the Bermuda Park Industrial Estate in Nuneaton.
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